IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MELVIN B. THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

VS.

CASE NO. SC07-489

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

____/

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, Melvin B. Thompson, was the defendant in the trial court and the appellant in the district court. He will be referred to in this brief as petitioner or by his proper name.

Respondent, the State of Florida, was the prosecution in the trial court and the appellee in the district court. The state will be referred to herein as respondent or the state.

The record on appeal consists of six consecutively numbered volumes, one supplemental volume, and sixteen unnumbered transcripts. The record will be referred to by use of the symbol AV,@ followed by the appropriate volume and page numbers.

All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 19, 1995, appellant was charged by information with armed sexual battery by penetration, armed burglary of a dwelling, aggravated assault with a deadly weapon, and false imprisonment (V1 3-4).

He was tried by a jury and found guilty of each offense as charged (V1 53-56).

A sentencing guidelines scoresheet was prepared in anticipation of sentencing. Although the Clerk of Court certified that a copy of the scoresheet utilized in this case was not in the record (Supplemental Record 1075), discussions between the parties and the court indicate that appellants presumptively correct sentence was 122.5 months to 204.2 months in state prison (V4 763-764). Nevertheless, the court imposed a departure sentence of life imprisonment on Count I, and five years imprisonment on Counts III and IV. The court sentenced appellant to a lifetime of probation in Count II, to run consecutively to the prison sentences (V1 63-74).

Notice of appeal was timely filed. On direct appeal appellant argued, inter alia, that his departure sentence was based in impermissible reasons, and that his trial lawyer provided ineffective assistance of counsel on the face of the record for failing to file a timely motion to recuse the trial

judge. In the alternative, petitioner asserts the requirement that a motion to recuse a judge be filed within ten days of the event giving rise to the motion to recuse was not jurisdictional so that the trial judge reversibly erred by denying the otherwise legally sufficient motion to recuse because it was filed fourteen days after the basis for the motion to recuse occurred.

Thereafter, appellant—s case was heard and affirmed by the First District Court of Appeal. In so ruling, the district court held that appellant—s motion to recuse would have been legally sufficient to require disqualification of the judge had it been timely filed, but concluded that the issue should be decided after a Rule 3.850 evidentiary hearing. The district court did not address any of the other issues raised on direct appeal. The court ordered a different judge to hear the Rule 3.850 pleading. Thompson v. State, 764 So. 2d 630 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000) (Thompson I).

Consequently, petitioner filed his Rule 3.850 petition in the trial court and argued that trial counsel had provided ineffective assistance for failing to timely file the motion to recuse, and in the alternative, that counsel was ineffective for failing to place on the record reasons for why he did not timely file the motion to recuse. Petitioner also

asserted that his being tried by a judge who had determined the sentence before hearing any evidence created a structural defect that warranted granting him a new trial. Finally, petitioner asserted that the guidelines departure sentence was an unconstitutional violation of his right to trial in that the reasons given in support of the departure sentence were neither pled in the charging document nor found beyond a reasonable doubt by the jury, citing Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. (2000) and Blakely v. Washington, 540 U.S. 581 (2004).

Again, the trial court denied petitioner relief (unnumbered transcripts). Notice of appeal was timely filed, and that ruling was reviewed by the First District Court.

The First District Court of Appeal again affirmed petitioners convictions and sentences. Thompson v. State, 949 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA 2007) (Thompson II). In so doing, the court held that petitioner failed to prove the second prong of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984) by showing that the result of the trial would have been different had a different judge sat on the case. Thompson II, supra. The appellate court also held that no structural defect had been shown because appellant/petitioner did not proved that Judge Smith was

actually prejudiced when he announced the sentence he intended to impose, before he heard the evidence in the case. <u>Id</u>.

Finally, the First District Court held that Apprendi v.

New Jersey, supra, did not apply in this case because the departure sentence imposed here did not exceed the statutory maximum permitted by section 775.082, Florida Statutes.

Although Blakely v. Washington, supra, later clarified what the Astatutory maximum@ meant, petitioner=s case had become final by the time Blakely was decided.

This appeal follows.

Blakely, held that the statutory maximum sentence was the maximum sentence a judge could impose based solely on the facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the accused.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was charge by information with armed sexual battery, armed burglary of a dwelling, aggravated assault and false imprisonment (V1 3-4). The information did not include any of the facts that were later used by the trial judge as the basis for his guidelines departure sentence. In addition, the verdict form did not include any of the facts relied on by the trial judge when he imposed his guidelines departure sentence.

During a pre-trial hearing, the following was heard:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: In [case number] 95-2874 the offenses are sexual battery with a deadly weapon, a life felony; burglary of a dwelling while armed, a first degree punishable by life; aggravated assault with a deadly weapon, a third degree felony; and false imprisonment, a third degree felony.

COURT: Okay. So if convicted in that case, he will be spending the rest of his life in prison?

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Perhaps if that=s what the quidelines call for.

COURT: With a first degree punishable by life, I don=t think we need to worry about the guidelines....

(V4-683).

PROSECUTOR: Theres no question that I am going to seek the maximum... I intend to put him away for the remainder of his natural-born life and I can tell that on the record.

(V4-688).

COURT: As far as the motion to withdraw, the Court is going to deny the motion to withdraw. If there has been a threat made, the Court concludes that it was a threat that could never be carried out. If he=s convicted, which is a condition of his threat, if he=s convicted, he will be in prison for the rest of his life....

(V4-689).

Fourteen days after the trial judge announced his intention to sentence petitioner to life, defense counsel filed a motion to recuse the judge (V1 26-28). In that motion petitioner alleged that the trial court had pre-judged the case by announcing his intention to impose a departure sentence of life without parole before he heard any incriminating or mitigating evidence.

The trial judge denied the motion and held it was legally insufficient because it had not been filed within ten days of the offending comments (Supplemental Record, Motion Hearing on April 3, 1996, at page 59).

Thereafter, trial commenced. Petitioner was found guilty of each offense as charged, and the trial judge sentenced petitioner to life in prison, as promised.

After petitioner=s convictions and sentences were upheld on direct appeal, Thompson I, supra, he filed the instant

motion for post-conviction relief in which he alleged, inter alia, that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to file a timely motion to recuse, and in the alternative, that Judge L. Ralph ABubba@

Smith=s presiding over his trial created a structural defect which required that he be given a new trial.

Petitioner also argued that the reasons given in support of the departure sentence were neither pled in the information nor found by a jury beyond a reasonable doubt, citing <u>Apprendi</u> v. New Jersey, supra, and Blakely v. Washington, supra.

The First District Court rejected petitioners claim that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to timely file the motion to recuse and held that petitioner failed to demonstrate any prejudice from the deficient performance he alleged. Thompson II. In so doing, the First District Court certified that its opinion conflicted with opinions from the Second District Court, Kleppinger v. State, 884 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), and the Fourth District Court in Goines v. State, 708 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)

The appellate court also held that petitioner failed to prove that Judge Smith=s presiding over his trial created a structural defect because petitioner failed to show Judge Smith was actually prejudiced. Id.

The district court also rejected petitioner=s Apprendi claim, as set out above.

Melvin B. Thompson now petitions this Court to review the decision of the First District Court of Appeal and resolve the

inter-district conflict created by the First District=s decision in this case.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First issue: Petitioner appealed the denial of his motion for post-conviction relief as it pertained to his claim that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to timely recuse the trial judge who announced before trial that he would impose a guidelines departure sentence of life in prison if petitioner was convicted for the instant offenses.

The district court erred by holding that petitioner failed to prove that the outcome of the case would have been different if a different judge had presided at trial. Other district courts, and the United States Supreme Court, have held that it is unnecessary to prove prejudice when the ineffectiveness claim involves the failure to properly recuse a trial judge. Goines v. State, infra (trial before a judge whose impartiality may reasonably be questioned would present grave due process concerns, because proceedings involving criminal charges... must both be and appear to be fundamentally fair); Kleppinger v. State, infra (a finding of prejudice required for a finding of ineffective assistance of counsel in connection with a judicial disqualification issue turns on whether disqualification would have been required, not on whether the outcome of a new trial would have been

different). <u>See also, Pinardi v. State</u>, infra, citing <u>Arizona</u> <u>v. Fulminante</u>, infra.

Moreover, allowing a biased judge to preside over a trial constitutes a structural defect that requires a new trial without regard for harmless error analysis or the conventional Strickland test. Pinardi v. State, infra. (The United States Supreme Court thus made it clear that when the issue is judicial bias... the Strickland test is not applicable).

Here, petitioner was required to stand trial with a judge who had pre-judged the sentence that would be imposed upon conviction because his trial lawyer failed to file a timely motion to recuse the judge. This constituted not only ineffective assistance of counsel, Goines v. State, infra, Kleppinger v. State, infra, but also constituted a structural defect which required that petitioner be given a new trial.

Public confidence in the judiciary requires that trials be conducted by a neutral and detached magistrate. In the instant case, petitioner—s trial was presided over by a judge who had publically announced what sentence would be imposed before he heard one scintilla of incriminating or mitigating evidence. Not only was petitioner deprived of his right to trial by a neutral and detached magistrate, but public confidence in the judiciary under these circumstances is understandably eroded.

Second issue: The trial and district courts erred by

denying petitioner=s Rule 3.800(a) claim that the departure sentences

imposed below violated petitioner=s Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury.

Petitioners offenses were committed when the sentencing guidelines set the presumptively correct sentence to be imposed. The trial judge, however, departed from the presumptively correct sentence of 204 months incarceration and sentenced petitioner to life in prison without parole. The trial judge then found by a preponderance of the evidence, reasons to support his excessive sentence. These reasons given in support of the departure sentence were neither pled in the information nor found beyond a reasonable doubt by the jury.

Under Apprendi v. New Jersey, infra, and Blakely v.

Washington, infra, imposing a guidelines departure sentence under these circumstances violated petitioners right to trial by jury. Petitioners sentence had not become final until almost four months after Apprendi was decided. Blakely was merely a refinement of the holding in Apprendi and did not constitute a new rule of law. Blakely held that the relevant Astatutory maximum@ sentence for Apprendi purposes is the maximum sentence a judge may impose based solely on facts reflected in the jury verdict or admitted by the defendant. Blakely, infra. The trial courts imposition of a

guidelines departure sentence based on reasons unilaterally found by the trial judge by a preponderance of the evidence violated petitioner—s Sixth Amendment right to trial by jury. This Court must vacate the life sentences and remand to the lower court with directions to impose a sentence within the guidelines range that was in effect at the time the instant offenses were committed.

ARGUMENT

FIRST ISSUE PRESENTED

THE DISTRICT COURT REVERSIBLY ERRED BY HOLDING THAT PETITIONER MUST PROVE THAT THERE WAS A REASONABLE PROBABILITY THAT THE OUTCOME OF THE TRIAL WOULD HAVE BEEN DIFFERENT IF TRIAL COUNSEL HAD TIMELY MOVED TO RECUSE THE PRESIDING JUDGE BECAUSE BEING TRIED BY A JUDGE WHO HAS PRE-JUDGED A CASE IS A STRUCTURAL DEFECT FOR WHICH ACTUAL PREJUDICE IS NOT REQUIRED TO BE SHOWN.

Standard of Review

The issue before the Court involves a purely legal question. The standard of review for a purely legal question is de novo. See, eg., State v. Gandy, 766 So. 2d 1234 (Fla. 1st DCA 2000).

Before trial, and before either party presented any evidence, the judge announced that he intended to sentence petitioner to life in prison if the jury found him guilty as charged. Petitioner moved to disqualify that judge, but filed the motion fourteen days after the offending comments were made. The trial judge denied the motion as being legally insufficient because it was not timely filed.

After appellant was tried, convicted, and given the promised life sentence, he appealed. He argued that trial counsels failure to file a timely motion to recuse showed ineffective assistance of counsel on the face of the record,

and in the alternative, that the ten day rule for moving to recuse was not a jurisdictional or bright line requirement.

The district court found that the motion to recuse presented a legally sufficient basis for disqualification, but denied relief holding the issue would be better settled during an evidentiary hearing. Thompson I.

Thereafter, petitioner file a Rule 3.850 motion. In it he alleged, inter alia, that trial counsel rendered ineffective assistance of counsel for not timely filing a motion to disqualify the trial judge, and in the alternative, that the trial judge-s presiding over his trial created a structural defect that was not subject to harmless error analysis.

The First District Court rejected both arguments and held that Aappellant has failed to make the required showing of prejudice as that term has been defined by Strickland and its progeny. Thompson II, supra. The district court also held that Judge Smith presiding over petitioner trial and sentencing did not create a structural defect because petitioner Adoes not present evidence showing that Judge Smith was actually biased in this case. Petitioner respectfully disagrees with both holdings.

Petitioner asserts that when a court determines the

sentence it will impose before hearing the aggravating and mitigating evidence, or any evidence, for that matter, then the court has pre-judged the case. Pre-judging a case, by definition, evinces prejudice. See eg., Gonzalez v.

Goldstein, 633 So. 2d 1183 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)(Trial judgess announcement to defense counsel before resentencing that judge intended to impose maximum period allowable under sentencing guidelines, regardless of any evidence in mitigation, was paradigm of judicial bias and prejudice which, thus, warranted recusal). And that prejudice was allowed to permeate appellants trial and sentencing because trial counsel failed to file a timely motion to disqualify the judge who pre-judged the case.

The prejudice to petitioner by trial counsels failure to properly recuse the judge also resulted in a structural defect which necessitates that petitioner be given a new trial. But perhaps the greater prejudice is to the judicial system itself. When citizens find that a judge who has pre-judged a case is allowed to preside over that case, over a defendants objection, confidence in the legal system itself is greatly diminished, and the legitimacy of the judicial system is called into question.

Recently, this Court issued is decision in Carratelli v.

State, 32 Fla. L. Weekly S390 (Fla. July 5, 2007). There,
this Court opined that

AA defendants claim that his counsel offered ineffective assistance at trial, for whatever reason, must be analyzed under the standard the Supreme Court enunciated in Strickland. The purpose of the right to the effective assistance of counsel is to mesure a fair trial, = Strickland, 466 Us. at 686, defined as more in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an

impartial tribunal for resolution of issues
defined in advance of the proceedings.@
Id.

Carratelli, supra, dealt with an ineffective assistance of counsel claim based on the failure to preserve a challenge to a potential juror. Unlike the case at bar, Carratelli, supra, did not involve a claim of structural defect.

Consequently, the dicta that an ineffective assistance claim, for whatever reason, must be analyzed under the standard the Supreme Court enunciated in Strickland® should be reconsidered by this Court.

In <u>Pinardi v. State</u>, 718 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998), the district court held that the presence on the bench of a judge who is not impartial constitutes a Astructural defect in the constitution of the trial mechanism, which defy analysis by *harmless error= standards. Citing Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991), the <u>Pinardi</u> court concluded, AThe United States Supreme Court thus made it clear that when the issue is judicial bias or the denial of counsel, the <u>Strickland</u> test is not applicable.@ Pinardi, supra, at 248.

In <u>Goines v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), the defendant gave his trial counsel a note explaining that the trial judge, while employed at the state attorney=s office,

had previously prosecuted him on a drug charge that was to be used in the present case as the basis for a habitual felony offender designation. Trial counsel, however, failed to move to recuse the judge, and Goines was convicted for sale of cocaine. Thereafter, the court declared him to be a habitual felony offender, but imposed a 15 year sentence rather than the permissible 30 year term.

Goines ultimately filed a motion for post-conviction relief and asserted that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance by failing to move to recuse the trial judge. The trial court denied relief because Goines failed to demonstrate prejudice, i.e., that the outcome of the proceedings would have been different if the motion had been filed. Goines appealed.

The district court reversed for a new trial before a different judge. In so doing, the appellate court concluded that a defendant who is being tried by his former prosecutor who would use evidence from the prior case to formulate a sentence in the instant case, would have a reasonable fear that he might not receive a fair trial or sentencing. The court went on to note that normally, AIn order to prevail on [an ineffective assistance of counsel] claim under Strickland, defendant must show not only that counsels performance was

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