IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MELVIN B. THOMPSON,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC07-489

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE TALLAHASSEE BUREAU CHIEF, CRIMINAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0045489

CHRISTINE ANN GUARD ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 0173959

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX)

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I

The District Court properly applied the prejudice standard presented in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), to the Petitioner's postconviction claim of ineffectiveness by his trial counsel as a result of his failure to timely file a motion to disqualify the trial judge. The Petitioner failed to demonstrate that the trial judge was actually biased, and instead on claims that he had a reasonable fear that the trial judge might be biased.

The Fourth and Second Districts in <u>Goines v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), and <u>Kleppinger v. State</u>, 884 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004), incorrectly supplanted the <u>Strickland</u> prejudice standard with the statements of the United States Supreme Court in <u>Lockhart v. Fretwell</u>, 506 U.S. 364 (1993). Since <u>Lockhart</u>, the United States Supreme Court has made it clear in cases such as <u>Williams v. Taylor</u>, 529 U.S. 362 (2000), that <u>Lockhart</u> has not supplanted <u>Strickland</u> as the applicable standard. Likewise, this Court made clear in <u>Caratelli v.</u> <u>State</u>, 961 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 2007), that the <u>Strickland</u> standard should be the standard applied and an actual showing of bias is required to establish the prejudice prong. As a result, Goines

and <u>Kleppinger</u> have been wrongly decided, and the decision of the District Court in this case should be affirmed.

ISSUE II

The Petitioner failed to preserve this issue for review as required by <u>United States v. Cotton</u>, 535 U.S. 625 (2002). Further, the trial court's imposition of a departure sentence in this case does not violate the holding of <u>Apprendi v. New</u> <u>Jersey</u>, 530 U.S. 466 (2000). The trial court sentenced the Petitioner to life imprisonment followed by life probation on counts that were a life felony and a first degree felony punishable by life, respectively. The sentences imposed did not exceed the statutory maximums.

The Petitioner's judgment and sentence became final some four years before the decision in <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296 (2004). Several federal courts have found that <u>Blakely</u> does not apply retroactively under a <u>Teague v. Lane</u>, 489 U.S. 288 (1989), analysis. This court, agreeing with the United States Supreme Court, has already decided that <u>Ring v. Arizona</u>, 536 U.S. 584 (2002), an extension of <u>Apprendi</u>, does not apply retroactively under this Court's <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922 (Fla. 1980), analysis. An application of the <u>Witt</u> factors weighs heavily against applying <u>Blakely</u> retroactively.

Finally, as this Court decided recently in <u>Galindez v.</u> <u>State</u>, 955 So. 2d 517 (Fla. 2007), <u>Apprendi</u> and <u>Blakely</u> errors are subject to harmless error analysis. In this case, the evidence presented to the jury establishes that any error in not submitting the departure factors to a jury was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Consequently, this Court should affirm the sentences imposed in this case.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

DID THE DISTRICT COURT CORRECTLY APPLY THE STANDARD ANNOUNCED IN <u>STRICKLAND V.</u> <u>WASHINGTON</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), WHEN IT FOUND THAT PETITIONER HAD NOT DEMONSTRATED PREJUDICE SUFFICIENT TO GRANT POSTCONVICTION RELIEF? (Restated)

Petitioner contends that the District Court incorrectly applied the standard enunciated in <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), rather than the standard enunciated in <u>Lockhart</u> <u>v. Fretwell</u>, 506 U.S. 364 (1993), which was followed by the courts in <u>Goines v. State</u>, 708 So. 2d 656 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998), and <u>Kleppinger v. State</u>, 884 So. 2d 146 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004). The State respectfully disagrees.

Standard of Review

The issue of whether the District Court applied the correct law to this case is a pure legal question entitled to *de novo* review.

Preservation

Petitioner preserved this issue by arguing it to the trial court in his amended motion for postconviction relief and on appeal. (RIII 4-11); Thompson II, 949 So. 2d at 1173-74.

Argument

The District Court correctly applied the ruling in <u>Strickland</u> to this case. Prior to trial, Petitioner threatened the life of his trial counsel, Richard Greenburg, and all of the other participants in the case, along with their families. As a result, Mr. Greenburg filed a motion to withdraw on February 23, 1996, only forty seven days after he had been appointed. At the hearing on the motion to withdraw, the following exchange occurred

> JUDGE SMITH: Okay. So if convicted in that case, he will be spending the rest of his life in prison?

MR. GREENBURG: Perhaps if that's what the guidelines call for.

JUDGE SMITH: With a first degree punishable by life, I don't think we need to be worrying about the guidelines. So his threat is that when he gets out of prison, he's going to make you pay for it and kill you and kill me and Mr. Poitinger and Mr. Murrell and the families and everybody?

MR. GREENBURG: Yes, Your Honor, that's correct... I understand I guess the point the Court is making that if he's convicted, he may get life in prison....

* * *

MR. POITINGER: There's no question that I am going to seek the maximum. There's no doubt about that.... I intend to put him away for the remainder of his natural-born life.... * * *

JUDGE SMITH: As far as the motion to withdraw, the Court is going to deny the motion to withdraw. If there has been a threat made, the court concludes that it was a threat that could never be carried out. If he's convicted, which was the condition of his threat, he will be in prison for the rest of his natural life and he couldn't do physical harm to you or Mr. Poitinger or Mr. Murrell or me or anyone else."

(MTW 6-13). Thereafter on March 20, 1996, Mr. Greenburg, filed a motion to disqualify the trial judge based partially upon the comments recited above. On April 3, 1996, the trial judge denied the motion, finding the motion was untimely under Rule 2.160(e), Florida Rules of Judicial Administration. (RIII 543, RIV 706). Thereafter, the Petitioner obtained new counsel. (RIII 543).

The trial court found that Mr. Greenburg's performance based upon a totality of the circumstances was not deficient. (RIII 545-552). The District Court did not specifically address the deficiency prong finding that it was unnecessary to reach this issue because Petitioner did not demonstrate prejudice. Thompson II, 949 So. 2d at 1174. The District Court found that

> In attempting to establish the prejudice prong of Strickland, appellant notes that the trial court did, in fact, sentence appellant to life imprisonment and life probation - just as the court's statement indicated it would. However, appellant has not alleged any circumstances or presented any evidence, which suggest that the aggravating factors relied upon by the court to

impose this heightened sentence did not exist. Nor does appellant allege that, assuming the existence of these aggravating factors, the sentence actually imposed was not within the trial court's discretion. As noted above, under the law at the time appellant was sentenced, these were legal sentences, which any trial judge could have legally, justifiably, and reasonably imposed under the facts of this case. Accordingly, the mere fact that the trial court imposed such a sentence is not evidence of prejudice resulting from his attorney's failure to timely file the motion to disqualify.

Id.

The District Court noted that Petitioner presented an alternative argument stating that Petitioner alleged he did not need to demonstrate prejudice in this case because the failure to file the motion to disqualify created a structural error in the proceedings. See id. The District Court stated:

> Appellant fails to establish a structural defect in this case. He argues that a structural defect was created when Judge Smith - who would have been impelled, by a timely filed motion to disqualify, to recuse himself - was permitted to preside over appellant's trial and sentencing. However, as was the case in Pinardi [v. State, 718 So. 2d 242 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998)], appellant merely alleges that Judge Smith could have been disqualified by a timely filed motion to disqualify, and does not present evidence showing that Judge Smith was actually biased in this case. Establishing the existence of facts and circumstances which could reasonably cause a litigant to fear that a judge might be biased, is not the same as establishing that the judge was actually biased.

In this case, appellant has not alleged that Judge Smith was biased because of his relationship to the parties, nor has he identified any pecuniary interest in the outcome of the proceeding. See e.g., Tumey v. Ohio, 273 U.S. 510, 47 S. Ct. 437, 71 L. Ed. 749, 5 Ohio Law Abs. 159, 5 Ohio Law Abs. 185, 25 Ohio L. Rep. 236 (1927); see also Goines v. State, 708 So. 2d 656, 661 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998). It is true that the statements made by Judge Smith may have been sufficient to require him to recuse himself, had the motion been timely filed. However, the existence of these statements standing alone is insufficient to establish that Judge Smith was actually biased in this case. Appellant has not pointed to any action or inaction by Judge Smith, which was not entirely permissible in light of the applicable law and attendant circumstances present in this case. Had appellant been able to point to behavior by Judge Smith showing that he was actually biased (thus violating Canon 3, Florida Code of Judicial Conduct, by remaining on the case), then this Court would be required to grant appellant the relief he requests.

A "biased" judge presiding over a criminal defendant's trial only creates a structural defect when that judge is actually biased. It cannot be said that an unbiased judge, who would have been required to recuse himself by a timely filed motion to disqualify, presents the type of concerns with which the structural error rule is concerned. In light of the fact that appellant has failed to show actual bias, he has failed to demonstrate the existence of a structural defect, and is, consequently, not exempt from the requirement that he show prejudice.

Id. at 1174-75.

The District Court finally continued that it disagreed with decisions in <u>Goines</u> and <u>Kleppinger</u> wherein the courts determined that the finding of prejudice in cases where the defendant

alleges ineffective assistance of counsel turns on whether disqualification would have been required. <u>See id.</u> at 1175. The District Court found that the courts had misinterpreted the decision of the United States Supreme Court in <u>Lockhart</u>, 506 U.S.

In <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984), the United States Supreme Court stated that "[t]he benchmark for judging any claim of ineffectiveness must be whether counsel's conduct so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result." In order to evaluate ineffectiveness claims, the Supreme Court set forth a two-prong test:

> First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable.

<u>Id.</u> at 687 (emphasis added). Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that rendered the result unreliable. See id.

To establish prejudice, a "defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." <u>Id.</u> at 694. The court defined a "reasonable probability" as "a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." <u>Id.</u> at 693. The court stated that "[i]t is not enough for a defendant to show that the deficiency of counsel had some conceivable effect on the outcome of the proceeding." <u>Id.</u> at 693. Not every error of counsel that conceivably could have influenced the outcome of the trial undermines the reliability of the result of the proceeding. <u>See Rutherford v. State</u>, 727 So. 2d 216, 220-21 (Fla. 1998). A defendant, then, bears the burden of establishing both prongs of the <u>Strickland</u> test before a criminal conviction will be vacated. <u>See Schofield v. State</u>, 681 So. 2d 736, 738 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996).

Recently, in <u>Carratelli v. State</u>, 961 So. 2d 312 (Fla. 2007), this Court addressed the prejudice prong with respect to postconviction claims regarding juror selection and peremptory challenges. The court agreed with the Fourth District's conclusion in <u>Carratelli v. State</u>, 915 So. 2d 1256 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005)(en banc), requiring that prejudice be established by proving that a biased juror served on the jury rather that whether reasonable doubt existed as to the juror's impartiality. At trial, defense counsel failed to preserve a claim as to three

jurors suitability to serve on the jury. <u>See id.</u> In his postconviction motion, the defendant alleged that his trial counsel was ineffective for failing to preserve the denial of the for cause challenges to the jurors. <u>See id.</u> The court noted that three of the four jurors did not serve on the jury. See id.

This Court stated: "[T]he test for prejudicial error in conjunction with a direct appeal is very different from the test for prejudice in conjunction with a collateral claim of ineffective assistance." <u>Sanders v. State</u>, 847 So. 2d 504, 506 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) (en banc) (quoting <u>Hill v. State</u>, 788 So. 2d 315, 318 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)), *approved*, 946 So. 2d 953 (Fla. 2006). On direct appeal, to obtain a new trial a defendant alleging the erroneous denial of a cause challenge must show only that preserved error occurred. <u>See Goodwin v. State</u>, 751 So. 2d 537, 544 (Fla. 1999). To obtain postconviction relief, however, the standard is much more strict. <u>See id.</u> The court quoted its holding in <u>Sanders</u> in which it stated that the test for prejudice in a collateral claim is different from that on direct appeal. See Caratelli. This Court continued

> A defendant's claim that his counsel offered ineffective assistance at trial, for whatever reason, must be analyzed under the standard the Supreme Court enunciated in <u>Strickland</u>. The purpose of the right to the effective assistance of counsel is to "ensure a fair trial,"

<u>Strickland</u>, 466 U.S. at 686, defined as "one in which evidence subject to adversarial testing is presented to an impartial tribunal for resolution of issues defined in advance of the proceeding." <u>Id.</u> at 685. The Supreme Court established the following standard for determining when counsel has provided ineffective assistance warranting postconviction relief:

A convicted defendant's claim that counsel's assistance was so defective as to require reversal of a conviction or death sentence has two components. First, the defendant must show that counsel's performance was deficient. This requires showing that counsel made errors so serious that counsel was not functioning as the "counsel" guaranteed the defendant by the Sixth Amendment. Second, the defendant must show that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. This requires showing that counsel's errors were so serious as to deprive the defendant of a fair trial, a trial whose result is reliable. Unless a defendant makes both showings, it cannot be said that the conviction or death sentence resulted from a breakdown in the adversary process that renders the result unreliable. Id. at 687.

Specifically, the Court stressed that "[t]he defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Id. at 694. Therefore, "an error that may justify reversal on direct appeal will not necessarily support a collateral attack on a final judgment." <u>Witt v. State</u>, 387 So. 2d 922, 925 (Fla. 1980) (quoting <u>United States v.</u> <u>Addonizio</u>, 442 U.S. 178, 184, 99 S. Ct. 2235, 60 L. Ed. 2d 805 (1979)).

Id. (emphasis added).

In the context of Carratelli's case, this Court required that prejudice can only be shown where an actually biased juror served in the defendant's case, and the defendant must demonstrate that the juror was actually biased. <u>See id.</u> This Court noted that applying a lesser standard would "disregard[] the fundamental difference, which we have discussed, between review on appeal and the much higher standard applicable to postconviction relief." Id.

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